FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 27 1995

CLERK, SUPPLIE GOVRT

COMMISSION ON ETHICS,

Appellee/Appellant,

Vs.

JAMES BARKER,

Appellant/Appellee.

CASE NO. 85,860

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE/APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

An Appeal from a Final Order of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District

C. CHRISTOPHER ANDERSON III
Staff Attorney
Fla. Bar No. 0352861
PHILIP C. CLAYPOOL
General Counsel
Fla. Bar No. 217832
State of Florida
Commission on Ethics
P. O. Drawer 15709
Tallahassee, FL 32317-5709
(904) 488-7864
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE/APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant/Appellee James Barker, the Appellant before the District Court of Appeal and the Respondent before the Florida Commission on Ethics, will be referred to in this brief as "Barker." The Florida Commission on Ethics, the agency in the underlying administrative proceedings, the Appellee before the District Court of Appeal, and Appellee/Appellant here, will be referred to as "the Commission." The District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District, will be referred to as "the DCA" or "the District Court." Citations to the record on appeal will be indicated parenthetically as "R." with the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The proceedings underlying this matter began with the filing of a sworn complaint (R. 2) with the Commission against Barker on October 11, 1991, and progressed through various administrative stages, terminating with the Commission's entry of its Final Order and Public Report on July 20, 1994 (R. 367). In her Recommended Order, which the Commission adopted in full as to its factual findings, the DOAH Hearing Officer recommended that the Commission enter a final order and public report finding that Barker violated Section 112.313(4), Florida Statutes, by accepting a free membership to the Coral Gables Country Club and by accepting a free membership to the Executive Club, and recommended that the Commission recommend civil penalties and restitution (R. 123). Barker timely filed exceptions to the Recommended Order, chiefly arguing that the Hearing Officer erred in not making certain findings proposed by him, not that the Hearing Officer's factual findings were not based upon competent, substantial evidence (R. In its Final Order and Public Report, the Commission rejected Barker's exceptions, save those going to the recommended penalty, and otherwise adopted the Recommended Order of the Hearing Officer (R. 367). The Commission recommended that the Governor impose restitution penalties of \$1,450 (\$750 was the annual fee for the Country Club; \$700 was the initiation fee for the Executive Club) (R. 375, 377). Thereafter, Barker timely sought review in the DCA, obtaining on May 10, 1995 the opinion that is the subject of this appeal, the DCA reversing and remanding on the sole ground that Section 112.313(4) is facially unconstitutionally vague and constitutes an unlawful delegation of legislative authority.

The Country Club depended for its very location and existence on its leasing City-owned property. As found by the Hearing Officer, the Country Club had repeatedly over a number of years had a business relationship with the City and sought favorable action from the City Commission. In addition to its landlord/tenant relationship with the City which dates from 1935 (R. 125), the Country Club in more recent times sought to obtain favorable decisionmaking from the City Commission regarding a number of significant issues. In particular, in 1977, the Country Club requested and obtained from the City Commission a 25-year extension of its 1958 lease, with no change in the rent amount (R. 125). 1978, the City Commission granted the Country Club's request for rezoning in order to expand its tennis courts (R. 125). 1980, the Country Club asked the City Commission for a \$23,000 loan to repair its roof (R. 125). In 1981, the Country Club requested and was granted approval to expand its tennis club facilities (R. 125). On November 22, 1983, the Country Club received approval from the City Commission for a plan to restore a burned-out section of the Country Club's facilities (R. 126). In April 1984, the Country Club requested and was granted by the City Commission an extension of its lease with the City to the year 2020 (R. 126). September 1984, the Country Club was successful in obtaining from the City Commission a rewording of the lease in order to satisfy

lending institutions from which the Country Club was borrowing money (R. 126). In 1987, the Country Club asked the City Commission to assist it, by contributing funds, in overcoming the Club's debt which had resulted from cost overruns, diminishing membership, and other factors associated with the Club's plans to simultaneously remodel and restore its burned-out facilities (R. 126, 127). From November 24, 1987 through March 8, 1988, the City Commission and the Country Club had several meetings or discussions involving the Club's debt problem and possible assistance by the City (R. 127, 128). On June 30, 1988, the Country Club proposed that the City forgive lease payments until the year 2000 (R. 128). On August 30, 1988, the City Commission voted to suspend the Country Club's lease payments, with the funds going instead to the maintenance and reconstruction of the Country Club's facilities (R. 128). Barker, who was elected to the City Commission in 1989, had been a member of the Country Club since 1986, with his dues being paid by his private employer (R. 131). His only vote regarding the Country Club after being elected to the Commission was a vote to postpone action (R. 131).

While the interface of the affairs of the City and the Executive Club was not of the same duration or frequency as that involving the City and the Country Club, it nevertheless was significant. The Executive Club's owner and the City had had numerous disputes over the years on various issues, and the owner's provision of the free Executive Club memberships was an effort on his part to "bury the hatchet" between himself and the City (R.

130). Notwithstanding that Barker, as an individual member of the City Commission, never voted on any matter concerning the Executive Club, the City Commission as a body, in September 1989, after Barker's assumption of office as a City Commissioner, did vote to lease space in a building owned by the Executive Club's owner (R. 129, 130). Subsequently, when the lease expired, the City did not accept the owner's proposal of a higher lease rate, vacated the building, and rented space elsewhere (R. 131).

The annual fee for Country Club memberships was \$750, entitling members to use of the Club's facilities (R. 128-129). The Country Club awarded complimentary memberships to the City Commissioners, including Barker, and other City officials, three University of Miami employees, and the editor of the local social magazine (R. 129). Complimentary memberships in the Country Club ran from year to year and were not renewed after the recipient left his or her office (R. 129).

Membership costs to the Executive Club were \$700 for initiation and \$50 per month dues (R. 129). Complimentary membership entitled the member to use the dining facilities (R. 130). Complimentary Executive Club memberships were given to the City Commissioners, including Barker, the City Mayor, the City Attorney, and the City Manager, as well as other persons (over 100 free memberships were granted) (R. 130).

In addition to the history of the case set forth above, the Commission feels compelled to point out erroneous statements or observations contained within the DCA's opinion. At page 3 of its

opinion, the DCA states that "[e] vidence showed that the purpose for giving out the complimentary memberships was to increase the prestige of the clubs, not to influence decision-makers." statement is consistent with Barker's view of the case; however, such a view was not demonstrated or shown to the satisfaction of the DOAH Hearing Officer. The Hearing Officer found only that "[t]he Executive Club and Country Club memberships were given to a variety of private community leaders as well as City officials" (R. 132), she determined that "[n]o reasonable person could believe that the free Country Club membership was given to Barker for any reason except to influence him," and she found that "[n]o reasonable person could believe that the free Executive Club membership was given to Barker for any reason except to influence him." In addition, at page 3 of its opinion, the DCA states that "[e] ven though the evidence was undisputed that Barker never voted on any matter regarding either club, the hearing officer concluded that Barker should have known that the donors of the two memberships intended to influence his vote or official action." This statement by the DCA is contrary to the findings of fact of the Hearing Officer and is contrary to the evidence stipulated to by the parties, as Barker did participate in a vote to postpone action concerning the Country Club. (R. 131, 146)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal erred in concluding that Section 112.313(4), Florida Statutes, is unconstitutionally vague. This error apparently stems from the District Court's misreading of the statute, which led it to equate the statutory language with the language declared unduly vague by this Court in <u>D'Alemberte v. Anderson</u>, 349 So. 2d 385 (Fla. 1977).

Unlike the earlier provision, this statute focuses upon the intent of the giver and the knowledge (either actual or constructive) of the real-life public official who is offered a gift. However, the District Court erroneously concluded (1) that Section 112.313(4) addresses a hypothetical, reasonable official, and (2) that the statute seeks to gauge whether an official actually would be influenced. These are not elements of the statute at issue.

No one argues that the statute's prohibition against accepting a gift when the official has actual knowledge that the donor intends to influence is unduly vague. The District Court's opinion indicates that an admission by the donor of the intent to influence would be an acceptable ground for prohibiting acceptance of the gift. The intent of another is neither unknowable nor a particularly unfair basis on which to judge conduct: at the heart of our judicial system juries regularly determine the subjective intent of defendants based upon objective circumstances.

Nor is the statute's element of constructive knowledge of the

donor's intent to influence unduly vague, given the precedent of this Court. Statutes having the element of proof constructive knowledge that property has been stolen have been upheld consistently against constitutional challenges on vagueness grounds. These stolen property cases involve criminal statutes, which are subject to even closer scrutiny than the Code of Ethics provision here. In addition, the same facts or proof that support a finding of constructive knowledge can support a finding of actual knowledge.

Therefore, Barker's vagueness attack on the constitutionality of Section 112.313(4) is flawed. The less stringent standard employed by this Court in examining non-criminal statutes is applicable to Code of Ethics provisions. Based on the precedent of this Court, the statute gives adequate notice of the conduct it proscribes. As a result, Barker has not met his burden of proof beyond all reasonable doubt that Section 112.313(4) is unduly vague or constitutes an unlawful delegation of legislative authority.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN DECLARING THAT SECTION 112.313(4) FLORIDA STATUTES, IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND AN UNLAWFUL DELEGATION OF LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY.

The Statute at Issue

Section 112.313(4), Florida Statutes, provides:

UNAUTHORIZED COMPENSATION. -- No public officer or employee of an agency or his spouse or minor child shall, at any time, accept any compensation, payment, or thing of value when such public officer or employee knows, or, with the exercise of reasonable care, should know, that it was given to influence a vote or other action in which the officer or employee was expected to participate in his official capacity.

The Standard of Review

Since 1974, when penalties for violations of the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees¹ were decriminalized, Florida courts have considered vagueness attacks on three provisions of the Code of Ethics. In <u>D'Alemberte v. Anderson</u>, 349 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1977), this Court declared Section 112.313(1), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1974), unconstitutionally vague, and stated:

Even though a less stringent examination as to vagueness is utilized in scrutinizing non-criminal statutes, a statute of this nature must nevertheless satisfy minimal constitutional standards for definiteness.

¹Contained in Part III, Ch. 112, Fla. Stat.

[Id. at 168.]

Regarding the standards for definiteness, this Court stated:

An assault on the constitutionality of a statute vel non must necessarily succeed if the language does not convey sufficiently definite warnings of the proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practice. [Citations omitted.] Due process of law will not tolerate a statute which 'forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning.' [Citations omitted.]

Though easily enunciated, the vagueness test is often difficult to apply. The test is not an inflexible one. . . What constitutes unconstitutional vagueness is itself vague. [Id. at 166.]

Following <u>D'Alemberte</u>, two other provisions of the Code of Ethics were challenged as unconstitutionally vague. In <u>Zerweck v. State Commission on Ethics</u>, 409 So. 2d 57 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the court upheld the language of Section 112.313(7)(a), Florida Statutes, that prohibits a public officer or employee from having an employment or contractual relationship "that will create a continuing or frequently recurring conflict between his private interests and the performance of his public duties" In <u>Tenney v. State Commission on Ethics</u>, 395 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), the court upheld Section 112.313(6), Florida Statutes, which prohibits an official from corruptly using or attempting to use his official position "to secure a special privilege, benefit, or

²In <u>Zerweck</u>, the court also concluded that the Code's statutory definition of "conflict" or "conflict of interest" (meaning "a situation in which regard for a private interest tends to lead to disregard of a public duty or interest") was not unconstitutionally vague. <u>Id</u>., at 60.

exemption for himself or others."

In each case, the courts agreed that a less stringent standard as to vagueness is used in examining non-criminal statutes such as provisions in the Code of Ethics. Citing <u>D'Alemberte</u>, the court in <u>Zerweck</u> noted that "a less stringent standard as to vagueness is used in examining non-criminal statutes, though minimal constitutional standards for definiteness must still be met." <u>Zerweck</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 60. In <u>Tenney</u>, the court concluded that "a court must impose a higher standard of definiteness where a violation of the statute would bring about a criminal penalty as contrasted to a civil one."

Statutes are presumed constitutional and doubts as to the validity of a statute are to be resolved in favor of a finding of constitutionality. <u>Department of Legal Affairs v. Rogers</u>, 329 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1976).

In that Barker is challenging the constitutionality of Section 112.313(4), he has the burden of proving that it unconstitutional. Peoples Bank of Indian River Co. v. State, Department of Banking and Finance, 395 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1981). However, as will be shown below, Barker has not met his burden by proving "beyond all reasonable doubt" that Section 112.313(4) is in conflict with some designated provision of the Constitution. Metropolitan Dade County v. Bridges, 402 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1981).

 $^{^3}$ The court in <u>Tenney</u> also relied on the following statement by this Court in <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So. 2d 605, 610 n. 1(Fla. 1977): "[W]e perceive the test to be much less severe where the maximum penalty is loss of an office or position. Penal statutes must meet a higher test of specificity."

The Error of the District Court

The District Court misinterpreted the advice tendered by this Court to the Legislature in D'Alemberte v. Anderson, supra, and misconstrued the language used by the Legislature in Section 112.313(4), Florida Statutes. In D'Alemberte, this Court found that (then) Section 112.313(1) was flawed because it sought to address the mental processes of a hypothetical public official (a "reasonably prudent person"), rather than seeking to address the mental processes of a particular public official under a particular set of circumstances. Conversely, Section 112.313(4) does not employ a "reasonable person" test, but instead addresses whether the real and specific official had actual or constructive knowledge under the particular circumstances.

Despite this difference in the two statutes, the DCA found that "this language ['with the exercise of reasonable care, should know'] in effect equates to the 'reasonably prudent person' language of the prior statute . . . "4 The DCA also stated, "Whether an official would be influenced under certain circumstances requires a far different analyses than the inquiry as to what a hypothetical official "should know" regarding a donor's intent to influence."

Contrary to the DCA's view, however, Section 112.313(4) is not concerned with how a hypothetical reasonable official would evaluate a factual mix into which such a conjectured creature might

⁴Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal, p. 5.

⁵Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal, p. 5.

be cast. Rather, the statute is concerned with the judgment that was made or that should have been made by a real and actual public official under the totality of circumstances and information available to that official.

Further, unlike the defective statute in <u>D'Alemberte</u>, Section 112.313(4) is not concerned with whether the gift or thing of value actually would result in influencing the official conduct of a public officer or employee. The statute before this Court is entirely preventative, or prophylactic, in nature. Rather than focusing on actual consummated influence, Section 112.313(4) only prohibits the receipt of that which the recipient knows or should know is given to influence.

In enacting Section 112.313(4), the Legislature did not revive the ethical embodiment of the hypothetical reasonable person laid to rest by this Court in <u>D'Alemberte</u> but, rather, breathed life into a very different statutory creature. The "with the exercise of reasonable care should know" language of Section 112.313(4), found by the DCA to equate to the "reasonably prudent person" language of the statute at issue in <u>D'Alemberte</u>, instead describes constructive knowledge that can be imputed to a very real public official in a particular factual context. The language of Section 112.313(4) does not concern whether a hypothetical public official actually would have the objective performance of public duties compromised in that same factual context.

In essence, the DCA erroneously faulted the Legislature for accepting this Court's advice, tendered in <u>D'Alemberte</u>, and

focusing on the intent of the giver or donor rather than on the issue of whether a theoretical public official actually would be influenced. The DCA's confusion between the elements of proof and the focus of the two different statutes at issue here and in <u>D'Alemberte</u> led to the error of that court's holding that the rationale of <u>D'Alemberte</u> applied.

Since Section 112.313(4) does not focus on the effect of a gift upon a hypothetical public official, the true issue presented in this case is whether proof of an official's actual knowledge or constructive knowledge of the intent of a donor, by proof of objective facts within the knowledge of the public official, is an impermissible method of limiting the gifts a public official may accept.

Actual Knowledge of an Intent to Influence is Not Vague

The intention of another is neither unknowable nor a particularly unfair basis on which to judge conduct. If it were, juries would not regularly be asked to judge the intent of the defendants before them, and all criminal laws requiring as an element of proof the intent of an individual would be inherently vague. Our jurisprudence rests on the belief that juries can assess the intent and knowledge of another, in civil cases and even in criminal cases, where the jury must be convinced of its judgment of the intent of another beyond a reasonable doubt. Arguing that the intent of another cannot be known with certainty assails the foundation of our system of justice.

No one has argued in this case that the Legislature cannot prohibit an official from accepting a gift when the official has actual knowledge that the donor intends to influence the official thereby. The DCA apparently was of the view that actual knowledge, at least in the form of an admission, of the intent of a donor is not an unduly vague ground on which to limit the receipt of gifts by public officials.⁶

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