## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

الالا 24 1995 KK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clark

COMMISSION ON ETHICS,

Appellee/Appellant,

CASE NO. 85,860

٧.

JAMES BARKER,

Appellant/Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

LAW OFFICE OF STUART R. MICHELSON Stuart R. Michelson Florida Bar No. 286982 Attorney for Appellee, James Barker 1111 Kane Concourse Suite 517 Bay Harbor Islands, Florida 33154

Telephone: (305) 861-1000

#

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

#### **ARGUMENT I**

The Opinion of the District Court should be affirmed. Florida Statute §112.313(4) is facially unconstitutionally vague because it fails to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of exactly what conduct is forbidden. In *D'Alemberte v. Anderson*, this Court held that the language "that would cause a reasonably prudent person to be influenced in the discharge of his official duties" was unconstitutionally vague. The present statute embodies the same reasonably prudent person test but has reworded it so that the statute requires the public official to exercise "reasonable care" in determining the intent of third parties. Thus, the present statute is actually more vague than the provision it replaced because the present statute requires two levels of subjective analysis, whereas the former statute required only one.

#### **ARGUMENT II**

The reasonable care standard has been historically applied to conduct, but not to determining another person's intent or thought processes. The reasonable care standard has no generally accepted or commonly understood meaning in the context of determining the subjective intent of some other person. Except for a situation where there is an admission by a donor that a gift was intended to influence one's official conduct, a public official can only guess as to what a donor intended due to the vagueness of the term "reasonable care" in the context in which it is used in Florida Statute §112.313(4).

#### **ARGUMENT III**

The instant case involves a due process challenge based on the vagueness of Florida Statute §112.313(4). Accordingly, the standard of review is whether the statute forbids or

requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning.

#### **ARGUMENT IV**

The issue for determination in this case is whether Florida Statute §112.313(4) is sufficiently precise and definite so as to provide the requisite definite warning of exactly what conduct is prohibited. Cases which deal with constructive notice of the existence of documents are not instructive on the issue presented herein.

### **ARGUMENT V**

Florida Statute §112.313(4) is unconstitutional because it violates the non-delegation doctrine. The statute is so vague that, in order to implement the statute, the Commission on Ethics must actually formulate legislative policy. The result of this lack of specificity in the statute has been that the Commission on Ethics has applied the statute in an arbitrary and capricious manner. Had Appellee read various ethics opinions dealing with the statute in question, he most likely would not have concluded that his acceptance of the memberships was prohibited. Commissioner Barker asked his City Attorney for advice regarding the free memberships. The City Attorney advised Mr. Barker that there was no conflict of interest and that he could accept the memberships. Yet, Mr. Barker was convicted, notwithstanding that he had sought the advice of his City Attorney. The statute has been unconstitutionally applied to Mr. Barker because it has been applied to him in an arbitrary and capricious manner.

### ARGUMENT

I

This Court should affirm the decision of the District Court because Florida Statute §112.313(4) is unconstitutionally vague.

In *D'Alemberte v. Anderson*, 349 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1977), this Court held the former Florida Statute §112.313(2)(a) to be unconstitutional because the language "that would cause a reasonably prudent person to be influenced in the discharge of his official duties" was unconstitutionally vague. The Legislature subsequently enacted the present §112.313(4), the relevant portion of which reads:

[W]hen such public officer or employee knows, or, with the exercise of reasonable care, should know, that it was given to influence a vote or other action in which the officer or employee was expected to participate in his official capacity.

The change from "reasonably prudent" to "exercise of reasonable care" does not cure the vagueness because each is the functional equivalent of the other. As the District Court of Appeal stated, "[b]y imposing a constructive knowledge requirement as to the intent of a third person on public officials, the statute is unconstitutionally vague and susceptible to the inherent dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." *Barker*, 654 So. 2d at 649.

The Commission argued in its brief that the "reasonably prudent person" standard, which was held unconstitutional by this Court in *D'Alemberte*, is not the same as the "exercise of reasonable care" standard embodied in the present statute. The District Court correctly concluded otherwise and should be affirmed.

On page 12 of its Initial Brief, the Appellant states that "[i]n enacting §112.313(4), the Legislature did not revive the ethical embodiment of the hypothetical reasonable person laid to

rest by this Court in *D'Alemberte* but, rather, breathed life into a very different statutory creature." On page 13 the Appellant further states that the District Court's "confusion between the elements of proof and the focus of the two different statutes at issue here and in *D'Alemberte* led to the error of that court's holding . . . . " Notwithstanding the foregoing protestations in the Appellant's brief as to the alleged differences in the two statutes, the Commission has previously during these proceedings treated §112.313(4) as the functional equivalent of the old statute. On page 7 of the Commission's Answer Brief filed with the District Court below, while arguing that Commissioner Barker should have known that the memberships were given to him with the intent to influence him in violation of the present statute, the Commission stated:

A <u>reasonable person</u>, not turning a blind eye to the totality of the circumstances recounted above, should have known that the free country club membership was given to influence. (emphasis supplied).

The Commission on Ethics used the hypothetical "reasonable person" as its basis for determining what Barker should have known, its present argument before this Court notwithstanding. The Commission clearly believed that the new statute calls for the application of the "reasonably prudent official" test, the very test already determined to be unconstitutional in *D'Alemberte*. Similarly, the Hearing Officer used her own impression of what a "reasonable person" would know as a basis to convict Commissioner Barker. The Hearing Officer concluded that "Barker should have known that there is 'no free lunch.' No reasonable person could believe that the free Country Club membership was given to Barker for any reason except to influence him. .

. No reasonable person could believe that the free Executive Club membership was given to Barker for any reason except to influence him." (emphasis supplied) (R.135). This conclusion was incorporated and approved in the Commission's Final Order and Public Report. (R.376).

Throughout these proceedings, the reasonable person test, already held to be unconstitutional by this Court in 1977, has been expressly applied to Commissioner Barker. This has happened because the present statute is essentially the same as the previous statute. Now the Commission argues that the present statute is different from the previous statute. It is respectfully submitted that the words used by the Commission earlier in these proceedings should speak louder than the words used by the Commission now.<sup>2</sup>

When the Legislature amended the ethics statute, subsequent to this Court's opinion in D'Alemberte, it merely shifted the standard by which the public official's conduct would be measured from that of a "reasonably prudent person" to the "exercise of reasonable care." The former statute asked "would a reasonably prudent person be influenced?" The present statute asks "would a person exercising reasonable care know that a third person intended to influence him?" Both statutes use a constructive knowledge requirement and both statutes attempt to measure a subjective mental process by applying a vague and ill-defined objective standard. The former statute required a determination of whether a reasonably prudent person would be influenced. The present statute requires a determination of both (1) the subjective intent of the giver of the gift and (2) a determination of whether the public official should have known, if he used reasonable care, what the giver of the gift was thinking. Thus, the present statute is actually more vague than the provision it replaced because the present statute requires two levels of subjective analysis, whereas the former statute required only one. As the District Court stated:

The Commission on Ethics utilized the reasonable person test to convict Commissioner Barker. This test was already determined to be unconstitutional in <u>D'Alemberte</u> and, accordingly, this is a separate and independent ground upon which to affirm the District Court's reversal of Commissioner Barker's conviction.

[T]he imposition of penalties is based on the subjective view of the hearing officer, as to the subjective view of the public official, as to the subjective view of the donor. Absent an admission by the donor that a gift was intended to influence official conduct, the public official can only guess as to what the donor intended.

Barker, 654 So. 2d at 649.

The present statute still applies the "reasonable person" test which has already been held to be too vague as a measure by which to determine the subjective mental processes of a public official. The "reasonably prudent person" from Florida Statute §112.313(2)(a) (1975) is the same vague entity who, "with the exercise of reasonable care, should know" what the donor of a gift is thinking, pursuant to Florida Statute §112.313(4). All the Legislature did when it revised the statute was to alter the definition of the objective standard which was in the former statute from the "reasonably prudent person" to "the exercise of reasonable care." Obviously, the defining quality of a "reasonably prudent person" is the "exercise of reasonable care." That which a reasonably prudent person would do is the same as that which one who exercises reasonable care would do. Indeed, the exercise of reasonable care determines whether one is or is not prudent. The problem is that both terms, in the context of this statute, are entirely undefined and unknown. The Legislature changed the wording of the statute, but did not address this Court's concern as articulated in *D'Alemberte*:

While the reasonably prudent man doctrine has been applied successfully by the courts, historically it has been employed to measure conduct. In the case *sub judice* we are not measuring conduct. We are gauging a person's mental processes. However, the inquiry is not whether the official would be influenced in the discharge of his official duties, but whether a reasonably prudent official under like circumstances would be influenced. Conceptually, the reasonably prudent man test is an inapposite tool to determine whether a particular official would be influenced in the discharge of his duties by a gift. The statutory language denies appellee due process because the objective standard enunciated

in the act is inapplicably related to the subjective mental process which the statute seeks to measure.

D'Alemberte, 349 So. 2d at 168. Clearly, the same could be said of §112.313(4) inasmuch as the present statute applies an objective "exercise of reasonable care" test to the subjective mental process which the statute seeks to measure; that is, the present statute seeks to determine whether the public official should have known, with the exercise of reasonable care, what was the subjective intent of the donor. The present statute thus asks what should have been known by a reasonable man acting with prudence about what someone else was thinking.

Essentially, the problem with this statute is that there is no generally accepted or commonly understood meaning of "reasonable care" in the context in which it is used in this statute. Thus, the language of §112.313(4) does not provide the requisite "definite warning" of the conduct which is prohibited. *Brown v. State*, 629 So. 2d 841, 842 (Fla. 1994). This Court has described a vague statute as one which "fails to give adequate notice of what conduct is prohibited and which, because of its imprecision, may also invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." *Southeast Fisheries Association v. Department of Natural Resources*, 453 So. 2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984). This is the same problem which this Court addressed in *D'Alemberte*. "[T]he indefinite language in the statute does not employ technical words which have acquired a pellucid connotation to those specific individuals governed by the statute." *D'Alemberte*, 349 So. 2d at 168. Unfortunately, the Legislature has compounded the problem presented by the previous statute by now requiring the public official to measure the subjective mental process of another person.

On page 11 of its Initial Brief the Commission argues that §112.313(4) does not employ a "reasonable person" test, but instead addresses whether the official had actual or <u>constructive</u>

knowledge under the particular circumstances. The Commission fails to understand that the "reasonable person" test which was held to be unconstitutional by this Court in *D'Alemberte* and the "reasonable care" test held unconstitutional by the District Court below, are both constructive knowledge tests. It is respectfully submitted that the Commission does not understand the term "constructive knowledge." Constructive knowledge is proven by an objective test, such as the "reasonable person test" or the "reasonable care" test. BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 314 (6th ed. 1990).

In *D'Alemberte* this Court stated that the "reasonably prudent person" doctrine has been employed historically to measure conduct, but not a person's mental processes. 349 So. 2d at 168. The Court went on to state that the reasonably prudent person test is not an appropriate tool to measure subjective mental processes. The District Court below stated that "[b]y imposing a constructive knowledge requirement as to the intent of a third person on public officials, the statute is unconstitutionally vague and susceptible to the inherent dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." *Barker*, 654 So. 2d at 649. The Commission acknowledges that the present statute addresses whether a public official had constructive knowledge of the intent of some third party. A constructive knowledge test of some third person's intent is unconstitutional because of the vagueness inherent in such a standard. *D'Alemberte*, 349 So. 2d at 168; *Barker*, 654 So. 2d at 649.

In *D'Alemberte*, this Court held that a constructive knowledge test of a public official's mental process was unconstitutional. This Court is presently confronted with yet another statute

which imposes a constructive knowledge test on a public official.<sup>3</sup> However, this statute measures the public official's subjective impressions of the subjective intent of some third party. Therefore, as the District Court concluded, the statute under review is unconstitutional due to vagueness.

On page 13 of its brief the Commission argues that the provision of the statute which penalizes one who accepts a gift with actual knowledge of an intent to influence is not unconstitutionally vague. This portion of the statute was not addressed by the District Court below. However, it should be noted that there is at least one constitutional infirmity in the actual knowledge provision of the statute. §112.313(4) provides that "No public officer . . . or his spouse . . . shall . . . accept any compensation, payment, or thing of value. . . ." If a public officer's spouse were to receive a gift from a third party, and the public officer knew that the spouse had been given the gift because the donor intended to influence the public officer, the public officer would be subject to the substantial penalties of Florida's Code of Ethics, notwithstanding the fact that the public officer insisted that the spouse return the gift and the spouse refused to return the gift. This is a violation of due process. Under the United States Constitution, punishment must be predicated only upon personal guilt. Sawyer v. Sandstrom, 615 F.2d 311, 316 (5th Cir. 1980). This also violates Florida Constitution, Article I, §9. The actual knowledge provision in §112.313(4) is unconstitutional at least to the extent it would penalize a public official for a spouse's conduct.

### **ARGUMENT**

II

Florida Statute §112.313(4) is unconstitutional because the "exercise of reasonable care" has no generally accepted meaning with regard to determining the intent of another person.

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